Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of King Saud University – Science

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

# Biological and phytochemicals review of Omani medicinal plant Dodonaea viscosa

# Mohammad Amzad Hossain

School of Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy and Nursing, University of Nizwa, Oman

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 July 2018 Accepted 17 September 2018 Available online 18 September 2018

Keywords: Dodonaea viscosa Sapindaceae Review highlights Biochemical study Biological activities Oman

# ABSTRACT

An infusion of the plant of Dodonaea viscosa (D. viscosa) was used by the Omanis and other nations to cure a variety of ailments for many years. The plant was considered as a laxative, spasmolytic, antiviral, antiinflammatory, antimicrobial and hypotensive agents. D. viscosa is a species of plant belonging to the Sapindaceae family. Other species of this family have been similarly used to treat a wide variety of illnesses. Very little is known of the active constituents of any of these plants, particularly D. viscosa, a native Omani plant. The biochemical evaluation of the selected plant extracts showed that the selected plant contains oils and fats, heterocyclic nitrogen compounds, tricyclic flavonoids, steroidal compounds, cyclic and acyclic phenolics, pentacyclic saponins, tannins, mucilage, carbohydrates, reducing sugar, cardiac glycosides, and different trace elements. The previous in-vivo and in vitro different pharmacological studies of the plant extracts showed that the selected plant has significant antidiabetic, antimicrobial, insecticidal, antioxidant, cytotoxic, antifertility, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, anti-ulcer, antispasmodic, anti-diarrheal and detoxification effects. According to the literature, the selected plant showed potential biological activities, and it is available throughout Oman; however, only limited research work conducted and published on the selected plant in the scientific journal. Therefore, our present intention is to review the biological and bioactive constituents of the locally grown potential medicinal plant of Dodonaea viscosa which is used as a folk medicine. In conclusion, the isolated compounds from the selected plant or plant extracts could be used as medicine to treat illness.

© 2018 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

## Contents

1.	1. Introduction					
	1.1.	Plant description	1090			
	1.2.	Synonyms of D. Viscosa	1090			
	1.3.	Taxonomic classification of D. Viscosa	1090			
	1.4.	Distribution of D. Viscosa	1090			
	1.5.	Traditional use	1091			
	1.6.	Plant collection	1091			
	1.7.	Preparation of extract	1092			
2.	Bioch	emical studies	1092			
3.	3. Pharmacological activities		1092			
	3.1.	Antidiabetic activity	1092			
	3.2.	Antioxidant activity	1092			

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



E-mail address: amzad@unizwa.edu.om

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2018.09.012

1018-3647/© 2018 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



	3.3.	Antimicrobial activity	1092					
	3.4.	Cytotoxic activity	1093					
	3.5.	Antifertility activity	1093					
	3.6.	Wound healing activity	1093					
4.	Total phenol content							
5.	Total	flavonoids content	1093					
6.	Concl	Conclusion						
	Ackno	owledgement	1094					
	Refer	ences	1094					

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Plant description

The effort to find naturally occurring bioactive substances began in primitive times. The man used natural sources such as plants for curing human diseases without any scientific knowledge. Following the discovery of penicillin, a fungal product, many antibiotics have been isolated from microorganisms, and a number of these have been used clinically to control human infectious diseases (Fleming, 1929; Gottlieb, 1973; Wishnow and Steinfield, 1976). Recently plants have been extensively screened for antineoplastic agents, and many potentially useful drugs for cancer treatment have been discussed (Kupchan, 1976). Although many useful drugs are now available for the treatment of various diseases, new potential drugs are required to control neoplastic growth, viral diseases, and resistant microorganisms. In addition, new drugs which could ameliorate the harmful side effects of those presently used are desirable. Although the medicinal use of marine organisms and plants were described a very long time ago in the Orient, the extensive search for biologically active substances from both sources was started only very recently (Baslow, 1969). An early study of toxic principles of some marine animals revealed unique and interesting substances. It has been proposed that because of differences between the environments of marine and terrestrial organisms, the former may produce structurally very different compounds, some of which might be useful as new drugs for human disease control.

Dodonaea viscosa (D. viscosa) is a flowering medicinal plant available in a specific area of Oman. The plant is originated from Australia and native to western America. The plant is widely distributed in the particular regions of Australia, Africa, Mexico, New Zealand, India, Northern Mariana Islands, Virgin Islands, Florida, Arizona, South America and elsewhere. Now, it is available in most of the countries. The specific plant originates from Australia, but, it is available throughout the tropical and subtropical countries (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016). Sapindaceae family contains about 1000 species (Mehmood et al., 2013). Most of them are flowering and woody plants and used medicine to treat different diseases including cardiac diseases. It has several species including D. viscosa. It has several local and common names. The common name of the plant is hop bush. In India, it is known as virāli. In Australia, it is known as broadleaf hopbush, native hop bush, sticky hopbush, candlewood, soapwood, switchsorrel, wedge leaf hop bush, giant hop bush, narrow leaf hop bush and native hop. In Oman, it is known as Shahs, and its Arabic name is Zaitoon Alramal (Mehmood et al., 2013). Almost all parts and all species belong to this family are used as a traditional medicine to cure various ailments including cardiac diseases (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016). One of the species is D. viscosa which is available in almost all the countries including Oman. The locally grown selected species showed significant in-vitro and in-vivo various biological activities, and it is traditionally used by different ethnic communities to treat various diseases. A few species including D. viscosa belongs to the mentioned family are available in Oman. Recently, most of the species of the selected family also used traditionally to treat different chronic diseases. The leaves, fruits, stems and flower pictures are presented in Fig. 1.

# 1.2. Synonyms of D. Viscosa

According to the literature the selected plant originates from Australia, but, it is available throughout the tropical and subtropical countries including Oman (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016). This plant species as belonging to the Sapindaceae family. More than 1000 plant species are available belongs to this family and most of all they are flowering and woody plants and used as folk medicine to treat different diseases including cardiac diseases. There are about 20 synonyms are available globally; however, the most common subspecies are as follows:

- 1. D. viscosa subsp. angustifolia
- 2. D. viscosa subsp. angustissima
- 3. D. viscosa subsp. burmanniana
- 4. D. viscosa subsp. cuneata
- 5. D. viscosa subsp. mucronata
- 6. *D. viscosa* subsp. *spatulata*
- 7. D. viscosa (L.) Jacq. subsp. viscosa

#### 1.3. Taxonomic classification of D. Viscosa

Kingdom: Plantae; Subkingdom: Tracheobionta; Superdivision: Spermatophyta; Division: Magnoliophyta; Class: Angiosperms; Clade: Eudicots; Subclass: Rosids; Order: Sapindales; Family: Sapindaceae; Genus: Dodonaea; Species: D. viscos; Binomial name: Dodonaea viscosa (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Do donaea\_viscosa, visited July 28, 2018).

#### 1.4. Distribution of D. Viscosa

D. viscosa is a flowering and woody plant belongs to the family Sapindaceae (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016). Initially, the plant originates from Australia; however, now it spread all the tropical and subtropical countries. In specific areas such as Australia, Africa, Mexico, New Zealand, India, Northern Mariana Islands, Virgin Islands, Florida, Arizona, South America and elsewhere are widely distributed of the selected plant. The plant is a multi-stemmed shrub or single-stemmed small tree up to 7 m tall. The selected plant leaves are various in shapes and sizes and generally obovate, but some of them are lanceolate. The leaf size is about 4 to 7.5 cm long and 1 to 1.5 cm broad with deep green color. The leaves are arranged alternately and secrete a white gummy substance. Usually, the flowers are yellow, but sometimes yellow turns to red. The flower produced in panicles is about 2.5 cm in length. The plant flowers are a particular gender either male or female. The plant cannot bare both male and female. However, there is an exception; sometimes the plant bears both sexes. The fruit is about 1.5 cm with capsule shape. It is red, and during the ripening, it



Fig. 1. The picture of leaves, fruits, stems and flowers.

turns to brown color. The bark is pale and roughness with thin and exfoliating in long thin strips. The plant is producing seeds, and the seeds need to pretreatment by hot water. The pretreatment method used only female plants with their winged fruits to treat aesthetic value. Most of the subspecies are wild plant and found in different parts of Oman. The specific location of this plant is AL-Jabal Al-Akhdar, Northern Oman, AL-Hamra and Salalah (Hussain et al., 2013). The plant has potential activity against different diseases; therefore, the people of Oman are planning to cultivate the selected plant commercially soon.

# 1.5. Traditional use

The selected plant is used as folk medicine most of plant producing countries to treat different diseases. The specific part of this plant is used to treat specific diseases. The treatment of different diseases is based on the chemical ingredients and geographical distribution (Rojas et al., 1996). In New Zealand, the leaves are used to treat the wound, and the African people used the plant leaves to treat GI system, skin diseases and rheumatism (Rojas et al., 1992). However, in Oman the leaves of the selected plant as a medication to treat many ailments such as itching and rash, swelling, rheumatoid arthritis, bone disorders, GI disorder and the muscle relaxant (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016). Roots are used to treat ulcer and headache (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016). However, the mixtures of leaves and roots as paste are used to treat dental pain, headache, indigestion, diarrhea, and constipation (Meenu et al., 2011). Australian people have used the plant to treat the wound, bleeding, bone fractures and snake bites. Indian also used to treat for different ailments like bone fractures, snake bites, wound healing, headache, indigestion, and diarrhea (Rajamanickam et al., 2010).

#### 1.6. Plant collection

The selected plant samples were available in almost all the tropical and sub-tropical countries. However, in Oman, the selected plant species are available especially Jabal Al-Akhdar, Northern Oman, AL-Hamra and Salalah (Hussain et al., 2013). Almost all parts of this plant are medicinally important. Therefore, the researchers collected suitable parts of the selected plants for their studies. Soon after the collection of samples, the plant samples were stored in polyethylene bags.

#### 1.7. Preparation of extract

The researchers are extracting the plant constituents from the plant samples by using different extraction methods. They are also used different polarity solvent for the extraction. The mother solvent from all extracts was evaporated by using a rotary evaporator. All prepared extracts from the selected plant either hot or cold extractions were used to determine in vitro and in-vivo biochemical, pharmacological and toxicological studies.

#### 2. Biochemical studies

The previously reported phytochemical studies showed that the plant contains different nitrogenous cyclic compounds, various types of flavonoids, volatile oils, immune modulator ingredients, saponins, primary and secondary cyclic and acyclic phenols, tannins, gum, cardiac glycosides, carbohydrate and sugar (Venkatesh et al., 2008; Shafek et al., 2015; Ramya et al., 2011; Jeya et al., 2014; Jawahar et al., 2004; Kumar et al., 2013a). Various groups of chemical compounds were isolated from the selected plant parts which were reported earlier by the researchers (Sachdev and Kulshreshtha, 1983, 1984, 1982; Mata et al., 1991; Wabo et al., 2012; Lai-Bin et al., 2012; Akhtar et al., 2012a, 2012b; Abdel-Mogib et al., 2010; Khan et al., 1988; Dominguez et al., 1980; Dreyer, 1978; Zeza et al., 1985). Not all groups of compounds were isolated from one part of this plant. They were isolated from different parts of the selected plant. According to the record, more than seventy chemical compounds isolated and characterized from the selected plant. The identified compounds are mainly flavonoids, alkaloids, terpenoids, saponins, tannins, glycosides, cardiac glycosides, steroids, proteins, carbohydrates, fats, oils, amino acids etc sugar (Venkatesh et al., 2008; Shafek et al., 2015; Ramya et al., 2011; Jeya et al., 2014; Jawahar et al., 2004; Kumar et al., 2013b). Previous studies showed that the total isolated compounds from the whole plant of the selected species are various molecular weight compounds e.g., flavonoids (9), isoprenylated flavonol (10), chalcone (5), triterpenoid saponin (2), volatile oil (14), mineral and trace element (6) and others (15) (Fig. 2). Still, the scientists are working on the specific plant, and they are adding the name of isolated compounds in the chemical list. All isolated individuals from this plant showed significantly different biological activities. The isolated plant individuals differ from one region to another due to the geographical distribution. We are also trying to isolate some more individuals with potential biological activity from the leaves of this plant which is locally grown. Some of the individuals were isolated and reported from the locally grown plant species presented in Table 1. In addition, we also intend to isolate biologically active compounds and add their names to the existing list.



Fig. 2. Brief list of chemical compounds isolated from the plant.

## 3. Pharmacological activities

D. viscosa is a wild plant and used traditionally in various countries to treat different diseases. Different parts of this plant are used to treat certain specific diseases. Due to the traditional use, there is a considerable number of scientific work was done on different parts of the selected plant. Some of them worked on the biological activities of the plant extracts and isolated the plant individuals. Some of them isolated the biologically active compounds and evaluated their bioactivity by various model. The earlier reports showed that all parts and their extracts of the selected plant give potential pharmacological activity (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016; Khaloud and Hossain, 2016). The potential activity of the plant extracts could be due to the chemical ingredients (Sachdev and Kulshreshtha, 1983, 1984, 1982; Mata et al., 1991; Wabo et al., 2012; Lai-Bin et al., 2012; Akhtar et al., 2012a, 2012b; Abdel-Mogib et al., 2010; Khan et al., 1988; Dominguez et al., 1980; Dreyer, 1978; Zeza et al., 1985). The various polarity plant extracts have different significant activity on anti-diabetics, antioxidant, insecticidal, antifungal, cytotoxic, antifertility, wound healing, and cardiotonic activities (Mehmood et al., 2013; Khurram et al., 2011; Diaz et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2013a; Shanthi et al., 2015; Khalil et al., 2006).

#### 3.1. Antidiabetic activity

The antidiabetic activity of the selected plant extracts and their individuals was determined by in vitro and in vivo model (Akhtar et al., 2011; Muthukumran et al., 2011). Most of the previous reports showed that various polarity crude extracts showed different antidiabetic activity. Their studies also showed that the maximum antidiabetic activity was found in the highest polar crude extracts. That means, the highest polar crude extract contains the polar compounds which are responsible for the antidiabetic activity was increased with the increase of the polarity of crude extracts. Unfortunately, we are not able to evaluate and compare the antidiabetic activity of the locally grown *D. viscosa* due to the lack of facilities.

#### 3.2. Antioxidant activity

All polarity crude extracts of D. viscosa was determined their antioxidant activity by different in vitro model (Mothana et al., 2010). The previous results showed that all polarity extracts showed antioxidant activity against all in vitro models. Most of the reports, they mentioned that the maximum antioxidant activity was obtained in the methanol extract. However, our experimental results showed that maximum activity was obtained in the hexane and chloroform extracts (Khaloud et al., 2016). So that, our experimental results differ entirely from their results. The different results may be due to the sample harvesting, drying, and different extraction procedure. Firstly, the coarse powder samples were extracted with methanol and methanol extract was fractionation by the different polarity of solvents. However, they extracted from coarse powder samples starting from nonpolar and gradually increased the polarity. In addition, the geographical distributions, sample process, drying plant materials are also not the same.

## 3.3. Antimicrobial activity

The growth inhibition of the selected plant extracts against different microbes was determined by different methods including disc diffusion method (Jeya et al., 2014; Naidoo et al., 2012). All plant parts extracts showed notable activity against different iso-

Table 1

	Some	of t	the	individuals	were	isolated	and	report	from	the	locally	grown D.	viscosa	ι.
--	------	------	-----	-------------	------	----------	-----	--------	------	-----	---------	----------	---------	----



lated human pathogenic bacterial strains (Gram positive and Gram harmful bacterial strains). Various previous results mentioned that the 80% methanol and 20% chloroform extracts showed the maximum activity against the human pathogenic bacterial strains. Several authors also mentioned that the highest inhibition was in the chloroform extract against different microbes (Khaloud and Hossain, 2016). That means the growth inhibition results are not constant for the extracts. However, locally grown of the selected plant also showed the critical growth of inhibition against the clinically isolated bacterial strains which was collected from a local hospital. However, the maximum activity was found in chloroform extract of the Omani species. The chloroform extract contains the maximum number of active individual with the high percentage which is directly involved in the growth of inhibition. Our experimental results slightly differ from other due to the harvesting, drying, weather condition, and extraction procedure. Also, the bacterial strains and time of incubation are also the major factors for the inhibition of growth. The highest inhibition extract was used for the separation of chemical individuals are in progress.

#### 3.4. Cytotoxic activity

The cytotoxic activity of plant extracts was determined by various in vitro and in vivo methods (Shafek et al., 2015). Their experimental results showed that 80% ethanol extract showed potent activity on breast cancer cell line. Still, nobody worked of the locally grown selected plant on cytotoxic activity. In our research group is planning to do the cytotoxic activity of the selected plant extract within a short time.

# 3.5. Antifertility activity

The in-vivo animal model determined the antifertility activity of the selected plant extracts. Most of the previous studies showed that methanol extract give the maximum antifertility activity compares to other extracts (Kumar et al., 2013b). The dose within the permissible limit then the plant extract accelerate fertility activity but high dose it can cause miscarriage (Shafek et al., 2015). However, still, it is undermined on the Omani species.

# 3.6. Wound healing activity

The healing activity was determined by in vitro and animal models. The researchers showed that highly polar extract from the plant showed significant healing activity. They also mentioned that the polar extracts contain flavonoids and it can heal very fast compare to other fewer polarity extracts (Habbu et al., 2007; Khalil et al., 2006). Nobody work on the Omani species of the selected plant in regards to wound healing activity.

#### 4. Total phenol content

The vast number of research was previously conducted by the researchers to determine the total phenols content by the FCR method (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016; Khaloud and Hossain, 2016). However, the results for total phenols are different in the leaves, roots, and stems. In addition, the results are also different in various polarities of extracts. Some research mentioned that the highest amount of total phenols obtained from high polar extract and some mentioned that the high amount is obtained from the medium polar extract.

# 5. Total flavonoids content

The total flavonoids content of the plant crude extracts was determined by the AlCl<sub>3</sub> method with modification (AL-Oraimi and Hossain, 2016; Khaloud and Hossain, 2016). However, the results reported previously for total flavonoids are also differ from one part to another part. It also differs from polarity extract to extract. Some research mentioned that the highest amount of total flavonoids obtained from the universal polar solvent and some

mentioned the high amount is obtained from polar solvent. Our experiment results on Omani species contain the highest amount of total flavonoids in water extract (most polar solvent).

#### 6. Conclusion

D. viscosa is a wild plant is available in Oman. Most of the subspecies including *D. viscosa* belong to this family are available in the Arabian Countries. The plant had significant biological and physiological activities and used as a folk medicine in the Gulf countries. In the Arabian countries including Oman, the selected plant used to treat several diseases including cardiac problem. Recently, the plant is commercially cultivated all over the world due to its medicinal importance. About seventy over chemical individuals are present in the plant. The previously published reports showed that the isolated individuals gave the significant different pharmacological activities. The extracts of the selected Omani species also showed the significant pharmacological activity. The highest activity extract was used for the isolation of chemical individuals and isolated some of the biological or pharmacologically active individuals who are commercially used as medicine to treat diseases. In our future plan to selected right extract for the discovery of the new medicine with the potential chemical individual. In this context, the current review of the selected plant could be encouraging other scientists to research discovery of new pharmaceutical, agrochemical, and cosmetics drugs.

#### Acknowledgement

The author is grateful to Derek M. N. O'Connell, Director, the Writing Center and Learning Enhancement Center, University of Nizwa for his assistant to edit the manuscript.

#### References

- Abdel-Mogib, M., Basaif, S.A., Asiri, A.M., Sobahi, T.R., Batterjee, S.M., 2010. New clerodane diterpenoid and flavonol-3-methyl ethers from *Dodonaea viscosa*. Pharma 56 (10), 830–831.
- Akhtar, M., Itrat, A., Zulfiqar, A., Sufyan, A., Ajmal, K., Asaad, K., Muhammad, R.S., Galal, M., Khan, I.A., Iqbal, C.M., 2012a. Methylenebissantin: a rare methylenebridged bioflavonoid from *Dodonaea viscose* which inhibits *Plasmodium falciparum* enoyl-ACP reductase. Bio. Med.I Chem. Let. 22 (1), 610.
- Akhtar, M., Itrat, A., Ajmal, K., Marasini, B.P., Iqbal, C.M., Muhammad, R.S., 2012b. Biologically active C-alkylated flavonoids from *Dodonaea viscosa*. Arch. Pharm. Res. 35 (3), 431–436.
- Akhtar, M.S., Ahmed, M., Gulzar, K., Adnan, H., 2011. Hypoglycemic activity of Dodonaea viscose leaves in normal and alloxane-induced diabetic rabbits. Diabetologia Croatica 40 (3), 71–79.
- AL-Oraimi, A.A., Hossain, M.A., 2016. In vitro total flavonoids content and antimicrobial capacity of different organic crude extracts of *D. viscosa*. J. Biol. Active Prod. Nat. 6 (2), 150–165.
- Asila, A.S.H., Hossain, M.A., 2018. Isolation, structure characterization and prediction of antioxidant activity of two new compounds from the leaves of Dodonaea viscosa native to the Sultanate of Oman. Egypt. J. Basic Appl. Sci. 5, 157–164.
- Baslow, M.H., 1969. Marine Pharmacology. William and Wilkins Co., Baltimore.
- Díaz, M., Díaz, C.E., Álvarez, R.G., González, A., Castillo, L., González-Coloma, A., Seoane, G., Rossini, C., 2015. Differential anti-insect activity of natural products isolated from *Dodonaea viscosa*. Jacq. (Sapindaceae). J. Plant Prot. Res. 55 (2), 172–178.
- Dominguez, X.A., Franco, R., Cano, C.G., Noel, C.C., 1980. Isolation of 3,6,4'trimethoxy-5,7- dioxyflavone from the aerial part of *Dodonaea viscosa, var. angustifolia* Jacq (Sapindaceae). Medicinal plants of Mexico. Part XLIV. Revista Latino Am. de Quimica 11 (3–4), 150–151.
- Dreyer, D.L., 1978. Kaempferol methyl ethers from flowers of *Dodonaea viscosa*. Revista Latino-Am. de Quimica 9 (2), 97–98.
- Fleming, A., 1929. Classics in infectious diseases: on the antibacterial action of cultures of a penicillium, with special reference to their use in the isolation of B. influenza. Brit. J. Exptl. Pathol. 10, 226–240.
- Gottlieb, D., 1973. Actinomycetales, Characteristics and Practical Importance, Eds. Academic Press, New York, N.Y, p. 1.
- Habbu, P.V., Joshi, H., Patil, B.S., 2007. Potential wound healers from plant origin. Pharmacog. Rev. 1 (2), 271.

- Hussain, J., Rehman, N.U., Al-Harrasi, A., Ali, L., Khan, A.L., Albroumi, M.A., 2013. Essential oil composition and nutrient analysis of selected medicinal plants in Sultanate of Oman. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Dis. 3 (6), 421–428.
- ITIS, Dodonaea viscosa (L.) Jacq., http://www.itis.gov/servlet/SingleRpt/SingleRpt? search\_topic=TSN&search\_value=28675, visited on July 8, 2018.
- Jawahar, N., Manivannan, R., Jubie, S., Saiganesh, E., 2004. Pharmacognostical and phytochemical studied on *Dodonaea viscose* Linn. Ancient Sci. Life 23 (3), 1–3.
- Jeya, S.J., Santhi, V., Borgia, V.J.F., Devi, P.S., 2014. In vitro antibacterial activity, phytochemical screening and FT- IR analysis of Dodonaea viscosa and Adhatoda vasica. Asian J. Biochem. Pharma. Res. 2 (4), 289–298.
- Khalil, M.N., Sperotto, S.J., Manfron, P.M., 2006. Antiinflammatory activity and acute toxicity of *Dodonaea viscosa*. Fitot. 77, 478–480.
- Khaloud, K.A., Hossain, M.A., 2016. New prenylated flavonoids from the leaves of Dodonea viscosa native to the Sultanate of Oman. Pac. Sci. Rev. A: Nat. Sci. Eng. 18, 53–61.
- Khan, M.S., Ahmed, S., Jain, P.C., 1988. Chemical investigation of root bark of Dodonaea viscosa Linn. Indian J. Nat. Prod. 2, 12–13.
- Khurram, M., Hameed, A., Amin, M.U., Gul, A., Ullah, N., Hassan, M., Qayum, A., Chishti, K.A., Manzoor, W., 2011. Phytochemical screening and *in vitro* evaluation of anticandidal activity of *Dodonaea viscosa*. (L.) Jaeq. (Sapindaceae). Afri, J. Pharm. Pharma. 5 (11), 1422–1426.
- Kumar, M.S., Selvakumar, S., Rao, M.R.K., Anbuselvi, S., 2013a. Preliminary phytochemical analysis of *Dodonaea viscosa* leaves. Asian J. Plant Sci. Res. 3 (1), 43–46.
- Kumar, R.V., Reddy, G.V.R., Sathyanarayana, J., Bikshapathi, T., Reddy, M.K., 2013b. Effect of *Melia azedarach* and *Dodonaea viscosa* aqueous leaf extracts on fertility in male albino rats. Indian J. Pharm. Biol. Res. 1 (4), 7–12.
- Kupchan, S.M., 1976. Cancer Treat. Rep. 60, 1115.
- Lai-Bin, Z., Jun, J., Chun, L., He-Yao, W., Qin-Shi, Z., Ai-Jun, H., 2012. Isoprenylated flavonoid and adipogenesis promoting constituents of *Dodonaea viscose*. J. Nat. Prod. 75 (4), 699–706.
- Mata, R.C., Cristanto, J.L., Pereda-Miranda, D., Castaneda, P., 1991. New secondary metabolites from *Dodonaea viscose*. J. Nat. Prod. 54, 913–917.
- Meenu, J., Sunil, S., Manoj, K., 2011. Evaluation of antihyperglycemic activity of Dodonaea viscosa leaves in normal and STZ diabetic rats. Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 3 (1), 69–74.
- Mehmood, A., Murtaza, G., Nasir, M., 2013. Antibacterial and antifungal activity of Dodonaea viscosa (L.) Jacq., a wild plant of Azad Jammu and Kashmir. Int. J. Biosci. 3 (9), 1–7.
- Mothana, R.A.A., Abdo, S.A.A., Hasson, S., Althawab, F.M.N., Alaghbari, S.A.Z., Lindequist, U., 2010. Antimicrobial, antioxidant and cytotoxic activities and phytochemical screening of some Yemeni medicinal plants. Compl. Alter. Med. 7 (3), 323–330.
- Muthukumran, P., Begumand, V.H., Kalaiarasan, P., 2011. Anti-aiabetic activity of Dodonaea viscosa (L) leaf extracts. Inter. J. Pharm. Tech. Res. 3 (1), 136–139.
- Naidoo, R., Patel, M., Gulube, Z., Fenyvesi, I., 2012. Inhibitory activity of *Dodonaea* viscosa var. angustifolia extract against *Streptococcus mutans* and its biofilm. J. Ethnopharma. 144 (1), 171–174.
- Rajamanickam, V., Rajasekaran, A., Anandarajagopal, K., Sridharan, D., Selvakumar, K., Ratinapaj, B.S., 2010. Anti-diarrheal activity of *Dodonaea viscose* root extracts. Inter. J. Pharma. Bio. Sci. 1 (4), 182–185.
- Ramya, R., Sivasakthi, R., Senthilkumar, C., Anudeepa, J., Santhi, N., Narayanan, R.V., 2011. Preliminary phytochemical and antifertility studies on *Dodonea viscose* Linn. Asian J Res Pharm Sci 1 (3), 77–79.
- Rojas, A., Cruz, S., Ponce-Monter, H., Mata, R., 1996. Smooth muscle relaxing compounds from Dodonaea viscosa. Planta Med. 62, 154–159.
- Rojas, A., Hernandez, L., Pereda, M.R., Mata, R., 1992. Screening for antimicrobial activity of crude drug extracts and pure natural products from Mexican medicinal plants. J. Ethnopharmacol. 35, 275–283.
- Sachdev, K., Kulshreshtha, D.K., 1982. Aliarin, a new flavonoid from *Dodonaea* viscosa. Linn. Indian J. Chem., Section B 21B (8), 798–799.
- Sachdev, K., Kulshreshtha, D.K., 1983. Flavonoids from *Dodonea viscosa*. Phytochem. 22 (5), 1253–1256.
- Sachdev, K., Kulshreshtha, D.K., 1984. Dodonic-acid a new diterpenoid from *Dodonea viscosa*. Planta Med. 50, 448–449.
- Shafek, R.E., Shafik, N.H., Michael, H.N., El-Hagrassi, A.M., Osman, A.F., 2015. Phytochemical studies and biological activity of *Dodonaea viscosa* flowers extract. J. Chem. Pharma. Res. 7 (5), 109–116.
- Shanthi, S., Seethalakshmi, S., Chamundeeswari, D., Manna, P.K., 2015. Evaluation of wound healing effect of *Dodonaea viscosa* Linn. by cell proliferation assay. Int. J. Pharmacog. Phytochem. Res. 7 (3), 559–562.
- Venkatesh, S., Reddy, Y.S.R., Ramesh, M., Swamy, M.M., Mahadevan, N., Suresh, B., 2008. Pharmacognostical studies on *Dodonaea viscose* leaves. Afri. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2 (4), 83–88.
- Wabo, H.K., Chabert, P., Tane, P., Noté, O., Tala, M.F., Peluso, J., Muller, C., Kikuchi, H., Oshima, Y., Lobstein, A., 2012. Labdane-type diterpenes and flavones from *Dodonaeaviscosa*. Fitot. 83 (5), 859–863.
- Wishnow, R.M., Steinfield, J.L., 1976. The conquest of the major infectious diseases in the United state. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 30, 427–433.
- Zeza, D.M., Mpuza, K., Edmond, D., Roger, W., Clement, D., Robert, H., 1985. Triterpenoids of *Dodonaea viscosa*. Bull. des Soc. Chim. Belges 94 (2), 141–148.